PNnited Dtates Denate

WASHINGTON, DC 20510
March 27, 2024

Administrator Anne Milgram
Drug Enforcement Administration
8701 Morrissette Drive
Springfield, VA 22152

Dear Administrator Milgram,

As members of the Senate Committee on Foreign Relations, we write to underscore the Drug
Enforcement Administration’s (DEA) duty under the Controlled Substances Act (CSA) to ensure
compliance with the United States’ treaty obligations under the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs
(Single Convention). Any effort to reschedule marijuana must be based on proven facts and scientific
evidence—not the favored policy of a particular administration—and account for our treaty obligations.

In 1967, the Senate ratified the Single Convention by a vote of 84-0.! As a party to the Single
Convention, the United States must impose certain controls on the drugs covered by the treaty, one of
which is marijuana. The CSA implements those treaty obligations in U.S. domestic law, and section
811(d) requires the Attorney General to place marijuana in the schedule that he or she deems most
appropriate to carry out the United States’ obligations under the Single Convention.?

Marijuana is controlled under the Single Convention—which is not surprising given its known dangers
and health risks—and the United Nation’s International Narcotics Control Board (INCB) has fiercely
criticized efforts to legalize marijuana in other countries as a violation of the treaty. Just last month,
researchers found that daily marijuana use is associated with a 25% increase in the risk of heart attack
and a 42% increase in the risk of stroke.? Other studies have linked marijuana use with serious psychotic
consequences, including schizophrenia and bipolar disorder.*

In prior rescheduling proceedings, the DEA has determined that section 811(d) requires it to classify
marijuana as a schedule I or II drug in order to comply with our treaty obligations under the Single
Convention.’ It is important that the DEA continues to follow the law and abide by our treaty
commitments. Accordingly, we request a response to the following questions by April 12, 2024:

' Recorded Vote on Treaty Doc. 90-7 (May 8, 1967, 90th Congress), https://www.congress.gov/treaty-document/90th-
congress/7?7s=1&r=604.

221 U.S.C. 811(d)(1).

3 Association of Cannabis Use with Cardiovascular Outcomes among US Adults, Journal of the American Heart Association
(Feb. 28, 2024), https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/JAHA.123.030178.

4 Young Men at Highest Risk of Schizophrenia Linked with Cannabis Use Disorder, National Institutes of Health (May 4,
2023), https://www.nih.gov/news-events/news-releases/young-men-highest-risk-schizophrenia-linked-cannabis-use-disorder;
Rates and Predictors of Conversion to Schizophrenia or Bipolar Disorder Following Substance-Induced Psychosis, American
Journal of Psychiatry (Nov. 28, 2017), https://ajp.psychiatryonline.org/doi/10.1176/appi.ajp.2017.17020223.

5 Nat’l Org. for Reform of Marijuana Laws (NORML) v. Drug Enf’t Admin., U.S. Dep’t of Justice, 559 F.2d 735 (D.C. Cir.
1977); 81 FR 53767, Denial of Petition to Initiate Proceedings to Reschedule Marijuana, Drug Enf’t Admin. (Aug. 12,
2016), https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/08/12/2016-17960/denial-of-petition-to-initiate-proceedings-to-
reschedule-marijuana.



1. In 2016, the DEA under the Obama Administration declined to remove marijuana from schedule I
and acknowledged the limitations of rescheduling marijuana under section 811(d) of the CSA and
the Single Convention, concluding that “in accordance with section 811(d)(1), DEA must place
marijuana in either schedule I or schedule I1.”°

a. Does the DEA still hold the position that marijuana must be a schedule I or II drug to
comply with section 811(d) and the United States’ treaty obligations? If not, why has the
DEA changed its position?

2. The United States Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit has also stated that “several requirements
imposed by the Single Convention would not be met if cannabis and cannabis resin were placed
in CSA schedule III, IV or V.’

a. Does the DEA believe the United States’ obligations under the Single Convention can be
met if marijuana is placed in schedule III, even though the D.C. Circuit stated otherwise?

3. In the course of conducting its official review of HHS’ rescheduling recommendation, is the DEA
consulting with the Department of State about the United States’ treaty obligations under the
Single Convention regarding marijuana and any diplomatic implications of a rescheduling
decision?

4. Has the DEA consulted with key counterdrug partner nations about our shared obligations under
the Single Convention and their views regarding a potential rescheduling by the United States?

5. What impact would a potential failure by the United States to uphold its treaty obligations have
on our ability to ensure other countries continue to enforce their own drug controls under the

Single Convention—including for deadly narcotics like fentanyl?

We appreciate your attention to this important matter and look forward to your prompt response.

Sincerely,
Mitt Romney James’E. Risch
U.S. Senator Ranking Member
Q Z Senate Foreign Relations Committee
Pete Ricketts
U.S. Senator

81 FR 53767, Denial of Petition to Initiate Proceedings to Reschedule Marijuana, Drug Enf’t Admin. (Aug. 12, 2016),
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/08/12/2016-17960/denial-of-petition-to-initiate-proceedings-to-reschedule-

marijuana.
"NORML v. Drug Enf’t Admin., 559 F.2d 735, 751 (D.C. Cir. 1977).
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